RECEIVED

11-14-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2018AP1214-W

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE ex rel. RAYTRELL K. FITZGERALD,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

v.

CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY and HON. DENNIS R. CIMPL, presiding,

Respondents-Respondents.

Appeal from a Memorandum Opinion Entered by the District I Court of Appeals, Denying a Petition for Supervisory Writ Directed to the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, which Entered an Amended Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency)

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-PETITIONER

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000729

ISSUE PRESENTED

State v. Scott, 2018 WI 74, ¶43, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141 held that "involuntary medication orders are subject to an automatic stay pending appeal." Which event triggers the automatic stay—the entry of the involuntary medication order or the filing of a notice of appeal? Either way, must the circuit court *enter* an "automatic stay" order?

The circuit court held that it did not know the triggering event. The court of appeals held that the administration of involuntary medication is not stayed until the defendant files a notice of appeal.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This appeal presents an issue of first impression for Wisconsin and asks this Court to exercise its superintending authority. As suggested by the decision to grant review, it is worthy of oral argument and a published decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 5, 2016, the State charged Raytrell K. Fitzgerald with one count of possession of a firearm contrary to a harassment injunction in violation of §941.299(1m)g and §939.50(3)(g). The complaint alleged that Harbor Freight Tools had

obtained a harassment injunction against Fitzgerald, its former employee in Case No. 2016CV2114.¹ (R.1:3). It did not allege that Fitzgerald had access to a weapon or used a weapon in the incident at issue. The court set bail, which Fitzgerald paid, and he was released and returned to the community. (R.2-3).

The case continued. Among other things, the circuit court found Fitzgerald not competent to proceed, and he was placed in an Outpatient Competency Restoration Program. (R.11, 12, 14). On May 7, 2018, the circuit court remanded Fitzgerald to DHS's custody for inpatient an competency evaluation. (R.18). Two weeks later, Dr. Ana Garcia, a psychologist at Mendota Mental Health Institute, filed a report concluding that Fitzgerald was not competent to proceed to trial. (R.20). At that point, Fitzgerald was not under a medication order, but staff at Mendota had been trying to medicate him, and he was declining the medication. (App.118).

June 18, 2018,the court involuntary medication hearing. The State called Dr. Garcia, and she testified that Fitzgerald had continued to exhibit indications psychotic symptoms like responding to internal preoccupations. expressing disorganized thoughts. appearing paranoid and displaying an inability to discuss his

¹ There is no appellate record for this appeal, which began by way of Fitzgerald's petition for supervisory writ. This brief therefore cites to the appellate record for *State v. Raytrell K. Fitzgerald*, Appeal No. 2018AP1296-CR, which arises from the same circuit court case.

charges in a reasonable way. She testified that when Fitzgerald stops taking medication, these symptoms worsen. (App.118). She also said that he does not understand the need for medication, does not cooperate with taking medication, and has hidden medications in his cheek to avoid taking them. (App.117-118). She clarified that Mendota sought the ability to administer medication intramuscularly as needed. (App.118).

On cross-examination, Dr. Garcia admitted that she had had no contact with Fitzgerald after May $23^{\rm rd}$. Her interactions with him (including the competency evaluation) totaled about two and a half hours. She said that as a psychologist she cannot prescribe medication, but she knew that he had been prescribed Seroquel during his admission. (App.119-121). When asked if she had ever actually seen Fitzgerald on medication, she could not answer yes. In fact, she could not speak with certainty to a history of compliance or noncompliance with taking medication. (App.122).

Dr. Garcia did not testify that Fitzgerald was dangerous and did not opine that he needed medication due to dangerousness. (R.20; App. 116-122).

Fitzgerald also testified. He stated that he has been misdiagnosed and expressed concern about the dosage of medication that Mendota had been trying to give him. In his opinion, it was too much. (App.124-125).

At the close of testimony, the State urged the court to order involuntary medication simply because Fitzgerald's behavior allegedly had become worse, and he had been cheeking pills. (App.126). Defense counsel responded that the State had failed to meet its burden of proof. The State could medicate Fitzgerald against his will only if he was dangerous or to restore competency after proving the four factors required by Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166 (2003). The State had failed to prove that: (1) an important government interest was at stake; (2) involuntary medication would significantly further that interest; (3) involuntary medication necessary to further that interest; and (4) the administration of drugs was medically appropriate for Fitzgerald. (App. 127-129).

The State had not requested the administration of involuntary medication based on Fitzgerald's alleged dangerousness, and Dr. Garcia had not testified that he was dangerous. Nevertheless, the court noted that her report had summarized third-party reports of dangerous and violent behavior by Fitzgerald in 2010, 2011, and 2013. (App.135). It also noted that staff at Mendota described Fitzgerald as grossly disorganized, laughing to himself, agitated, calling peers names, pushing a staff person, and once flushing large amounts of toilet paper down the toilet. (App.136). The court held:

All of those things that I've read into the record I think exhibit that Mr. Fitzgerald is dangerous, while not on prescribed medications, is dangerous to himself or others. There is physical

violence; however . . . so I think the State prevailed on that prong, but I think they've also prevailed on the second prong with regard to *Sell*, and that is that there is an important government interest at stake here and that is the fact that he is charged with a serious felony. It may be a status offense, but the fact is he is alleged to be carrying a gun while under a prohibition for carrying a gun . . . And so, therefore, that is in my opinion an important government interest, the furtherance of this felony.

The fact that he does not take his medication is not facilitating him to be restored to competency. That is what this is all about so he can stand trial on whether or not he is guilty of this very serious offense; therefore, the fact that he's not taking his meds and has to be given them involuntarily does further that interest and I think it's also a necessary reason to further that interest. (App.136-137).

The court then signed an Order and an Amended Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency). This form Order permits the circuit court to order involuntary treatment based either on the defendant's "current risk of harm to self or others" or on the *Sell* factors. The circuit court authorized the involuntary administration of medication based upon the *Sell* factors, not on

² The caption on the original Order misspelled Fitzgerald's named. The circuit court entered an Amended Order (just page 1) which corrected the caption.

Fitzgerald's current risk of harm to self or others. (App.109-111).

On June 20, 2018, this Court issued the decision in *State v. Scott.* On June 25, 2018, Fitzgerald filed both a notice of intent to pursue postdisposition relief from the June 18th order and a letter notifying the circuit court that, pursuant to *Scott*, he was entitled to an automatic stay of the involuntary medication order. (R.23, R.24).

On June 27, 2018, the circuit court held a hearing and criticized defense counsel for not filing a motion to stay the involuntary medication order. (App.142). Defense counsel tried to explain that per *Scott* the stay was automatic. He also noted that the ADA was not contesting the stay and that, under *Scott*, the State could file a motion to lift the stay. (App.143-146). The court then prompted the ADA:

The Court: Well, he's moving that I do it now. I would assume, Mr. Dague.

Mr. Dague: Yes.

The Court: He's—in other words, you're asking that I impose the stay, and he's asking that I lift it because of the dangerousness that we got off the testimony. When I took the testimony from—it wasn't Dr. Collins. It was Dr. Ana, A-N-A-Garcia on June 18. And I recall the testimony.

Mr. McGinn: Okay. And it was my position that there wasn't any testimony from Dr. Garcia as to Mr. Fitzgerald's dangerousness. I know that we —

The court: It was in the report, which was part of the record.³

Defense counsel stressed that he had filed a notice of intent to pursue postdisposition relief. (App.147). But the court held:

The Court: You can file a motion [in the court of appeals] to stay it, but I'm imposing a stay, and then on motion of the State, lifting the stay so that he gets medicated because that's the only way we're going to move this case along if he's not going to be restored to competency until this is over.

And what this appears to me is to be a delaying tactic so that he's up at Mendota until the statute runs because I don't think you're going to file an appeal.

Mr. McGinn: Okay.

The Court: So the record will reflect I'm granting the motion of the defense to stay it and then granting the motion of the State to lift the stay, and he will be involuntarily medicated. You file your appeal, and you get the court of appeals to reverse me. (App.148).

The court signed defense counsel's proposed order imposing the stay (App.112), but before it could sign a written order lifting it, Fitzgerald filed a petition for supervisory relief in the court of appeals

 $^{^3}$ Dr. Garcia's report was not admitted into evidence. (App.141-150).

challenging the circuit court's implementation of *Scott's* automatic stay procedure.

On June 28th the circuit court called counsel back to court and vacated the previous day's proceedings. The court noted that it had read *Scott* and:

... the question I had is does the automatic stay come in after the appeal is filed or is it automatic when there's a notice of intent to appeal filed or is it automatic if there's merely an allegation that the defendant is going to file an appeal? I don't know. That issue is not—or that question is not answered as far as I could find, so I'm going to err on the side of caution and issue the stay today. (App.152).

The court added that Fitzgerald had two weeks to file an appeal. If he did not file an appeal, it would lift the stay "because then clearly the *Scott* case doesn't apply." (App.152). If Fitzgerald filed an appeal, then the State could move to lift the stay. (*Id.*).

On July 9th, Fitzgerald filed a notice of appeal from the June 18th involuntary medication order.⁴ (R.31). On July 11th, the transcript of the June 28th hearing became available. (App.161). Then on July 12th, two events happened almost simultaneously.

⁴ This generated *State v. Raytrell K. Fitzgerald*, Appeal No. 2018AP1296-CR, which challenges the circuit court's involuntary medication order and the constitutionality of §971.14. Fitzgerald filed a Petition for Bypass, which is pending before this Court.

Both the court of appeals and the circuit court made rulings regarding the automatic stay.

The court of appeals issued a memorandum opinion denying Fitzgerald's petition for supervisory writ. (App.101). It held that Fitzgerald was not entitled to an automatic stay "until he actually had an appeal pending and that did not happen until he filed the notice of appeal on July 9, 2018. A notice of intent did not suffice." (App.105). It held that "Wis. Stat. Rule §809.30, which governs appeals in NGI proceedings, criminal cases, and certain other case types not applicable here, does not govern commencement of an appeal from the involuntary medication order. Rather, Wis. Stat. Rule §809.10 applies." (App.105).⁵

The court of appeals held that its power to grant relief pending appeal derives from §808.07 and §809.12, so the State's request to lift the stay of an involuntary medication order should, like other motions for relief pending appeal, be directed to the circuit court first. (App.106). Because §809.30 did not apply, the circuit court did not lose power to hold further proceedings once the notice of appeal was

⁵ Actually, Rule 809.10 governs Rule 809.30 appeals. See Wis. Stat. §809.30(2)(j). The court of appeals may have meant that Rule 809.30, which is a special rule for specific kinds of appeals, does not apply to appeals from involuntary medication orders. This would mean that §808.04(1)'s general rule applies. Under §808.04(1), a person initiates an appeal by filing a notice of appeal under the 45/90 day rule rather than a §809.30(2)(b) notice of intent within 20 days.

filed. It retained the power to act until the record was transmitted to the court of appeals. (App.105 n.3). The circuit court could thus entertain the State's motion to lift the stay. (App.107).

Meanwhile, unaware of the court of appeals' decision, the circuit court held that because an appeal had been filed, it could not proceed in this case. (App.159).

ARGUMENT

- I. The court of appeals misunderstood *Scott* and thus erroneously denied Fitzgerald's petition for supervisory writ.
 - A. The requirements for a supervisory writ.

To obtain a supervisory writ, Fitzgerald had to show that: (1) an appeal was an inadequate remedy; (2) irreparable harm would result from inaction; (3) the circuit court's duty was plain and the court violated it or intended to violate that duty; and (4) his request was prompt. State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Peterson, 2015 WI 85, ¶80, 363 Wis.2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 165. The court of appeals denied Fitzgerald's petition for supervisory based solely on the "plain duty" requirement. This Court should reverse the court of appeals' decision because it misunderstood what Scott requires.

B. Scott's automatic stay is not contingent upon the filing of a notice of appeal.

Scott held that a competency proceeding is not part of the defendant's underlying criminal case. While the two proceedings Scott.¶33. "connected" or "related," the competency proceeding is "treated as being commenced independently of any other action or proceeding." Id. (citing State v. Alger, 2015 WI 3, ¶76, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 346.)). Scott thus concluded that an order determining incompetency and mandating involuntary medication or treatment to restore competency "is a final order issued in a special proceeding and is appealable as a matter of right pursuant to Wis. Stat. §808.03(1)." Id., ¶34. Scott also held that "involuntary medication" orders are subject to an automatic stay pending appeal." Otherwise, the defendant's constitutionallyprotected liberty interest in avoiding unwanted antipsychotic medications is rendered a nullity. Scott, $\P 44$.

Scott did not expressly state what event triggers the automatic stay—the entry of the involuntary medication order or the filing of a notice of appeal. However, the answer is clear. The court of appeals itself recognized that the power to grant "relief pending appeal" derives from §808.07 and Rule 809.12. (App.106). The relevant parts of these statutes do not require a party to file a notice of appeal before moving the circuit court for relief pending appeal:

809.12 Rule (Motion for relief pending appeal). A person seeking relief under s. 808.07 shall file a motion in the trial court unless it is impractical to seek relief in the trial court. A motion in the court must show why it is impractical to seek relief in the trial court or, if a motion had been filed in the trial court, the reasons given by the trial court for its action. A person aggrieved by an order of the trial court granting the relief requested may file a motion for relief from the order with the court. A judge of the court may issue an ex parte order granting temporary relief pending a ruling by the court on a motion filed pursuant to this rule. A motion filed in the court under this section must be filed in accordance with s. 809.14

808.07 Relief pending appeal.

- (1) Effect Of Appeal. An appeal does not stay the execution or enforcement of the judgment or order appealed from except as provided in this section or as otherwise expressly provided by law.
- (2) Authority Of A Court To Grant Relief Pending Appeal.
- (a) During the pendency of an appeal, a trial court or an appellate court may:
- 1. Stay execution or enforcement of a judgment or order;
- 2. Suspend, modify, restore or grant an injunction; or

3. Make any order appropriate to preserve the existing state of affairs or the effectiveness of the judgment subsequently to be entered.

The filing of a notice of appeal is not a statutory prerequisite for circuit court relief pending appeal. Section 808.075(1) plainly states: "In any case, whether or not an appeal is pending, the circuit court may act under . . . ss. 808.07(1) and (2) and 809.12." (Emphasis supplied). This makes sense. When the stakes are high—when the execution of an order or iudgment could cause irreparable aggrieved party moves for a stay to preserve the status quo at the conclusion of the circuit court hearing before a notice of appeal is even drafted. For example, at the hearing where the circuit court ordered involuntary medication in Scott, defendant requested, and the circuit court granted, a 30-day stay so that he could seek appellate relief. Scott, ¶2 n.2. See also Flynn v. Department of Administration, 216 Wis. 2d 521, 533, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998)(noting that the circuit court granted an interim stay, and then the defendants filed their notice of appeal).

Likewise, *Scott* did not impose a "notice of appeal" requirement. That would make it harder to obtain an "automatic stay" than it is to get a discretionary stay under normal procedures. Instead, *Scott* relieved the defendant of an impossible burden—scrambling to file a motion for relief pending appeal and imploring a court to grant it before the involuntary administration of antipsychotic medication begins and before a transcript is

prepared. It made the stay "automatic" because the defendant's "significant, constitutionally-protected liberty interest in avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic medication" is at stake, and a circuit court error would render the defendant's appeal a nullity. *Scott*, ¶44

The court of appeals' decision—making the automatic stay contingent on the filing of a notice of appeal—turns Scott on its head and will generate unnecessary appeals. Like Fitzgerald, some defendants attend their competency hearings by video while detained at the institution where they were examined and will be treated. (App.115). Others are immediately transported from the courthouse to the institution. As soon as a circuit court faxes a signed order to DHS, it may inject the defendant with a 30-day dose of psychotropic medication. Trial counsel has no time to do legal research, order a transcript, consult appellate counsel, or determine the pros and cons of appealing the involuntary medication order. Trial counsel must arrive at the hearing armed with a notice of appeal to file as soon as the court signs the involuntary medication order. The failure to do so could result in irreparable harm to his client and a malpractice or ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

Furthermore, when a circuit court enters a Form CR-206 Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) it gets distributed to DHS. (App.110, distribution list). If the filing of the notice of appeal triggers an automatic stay, how is DHS to be notified

of this fact? Is trial counsel supposed to fax a copy of the notice of appeal to DHS and hope that it has read Scott? Or, after trial counsel files a notice of appeal, is the circuit court supposed to enter a separate "automatic stay" order and distribute it to DHS? If so, how quickly? The court of appeals' interpretation of Scott would put the defendant in the very bind it was designed to prevent. Thus, contrary to the court of appeals' decision, a circuit court has a plain duty to effectuate Scott's automatic stay before the defendant files a notice of appeal.

C. *Scott* requires the circuit court to make specific findings before lifting the stay.

The court of appeals further held that because Rule 809.30 does not govern an appeal from an involuntary medication order, a circuit court retains the power to decide a State's motion to lift the automatic stay. (App.105 n.3)(citing Wis. Stat. §808.075(3)). It then approved the process that occurred in Fitzgerald's case. The circuit court acknowledged the *Scott* automatic stay, invited the State to move to lift the stay, orally lifted the stay, and directed the State to file a written order by the end of the day—all within minutes at the June 27th hearing.

On the morning of June 28th, Fitzgerald filed a petition for supervisory writ arguing that the circuit court violated its plain duty by orally lifting the stay without requiring the State to make the required showing. *See Scott*, ¶47. Specifically, the circuit court failed to find that the State had: (1) made a strong

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