### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-03-2019

# IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP1214-W

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. RAYTRELL K. FITZGERALD,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

v.

CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY and the HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING,

Respondent-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DENIAL OF A PETITION FOR SUPERVISORY WRIT, THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, PRESIDING

## RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ABIGAIL C. S. POTTS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1060762

Attorneys for Respondent-Respondent

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

A committed defendant shall be periodically reexamined by DHS examiners. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(b). The outcome of such reexamination may lead to the defendant's continued commitment, resumption of criminal proceedings, or discharge. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(c). If the criminal proceeding of a defendant receiving medication is resumed, "the court may make appropriate orders for the continued administration of . . . proceedings." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(d).

### 3. State v. Scott and postconviction competency proceedings

In *Scott*, this Court addressed the procedures for review of postconviction competency proceedings and clarified that, in the postconviction context, the circuit court is required to follow the procedures set forth in *State v. Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d 111, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994). *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 21. But the Court also held that an order determining incompetency and "mandating involuntary medication or treatment to restore competency is a final order issued in a special proceeding and is appealable as of right pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1)." *Id.* ¶ 34. The Court then used its superintending authority, pursuant to Article VII, Section 3

of the Wisconsin Constitution, to order that "involuntary medication orders are subject to an automatic stay pending appeal." Id. ¶ 44.

The Court reasoned that "if involuntary medication orders are not automatically stayed pending appeal, the defendant's 'significant' constitutionally protected 'liberty interest' in 'avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs' is rendered a nullity." Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 44 (quoting  $Sell\ v.\ United\ States$ , 539 U.S. 166, 177 (2003)). And the Court explained that the State would then have the opportunity to move to lift the stay. Id. ¶ 45.

The Court explained that the merits of the State's motion to lift the stay are governed by the legal standards set forth in *State v. Gudenschwager*, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 440, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995). The Court then revised the Gudenschwager standards to fit the context of the automatic stay, directing the State to:

- (1) make a strong showing that it is likely to succeed on the merits of the appeal;
- (2) show that the defendant will not suffer irreparable harm if the stay is lifted;
- (3) show that no substantial harm will come to other interested parties if the stay is lifted; and
- (4) show that lifting the stay will do no harm to the public interest.

Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶¶ 46–47. And finally, the Court held that whether to grant the State's motion is a discretionary decision. Id. ¶ 48.

## B. Fitzgerald did not establish the requisite elements for a supervisory writ.

The court of appeals reasonably denied Fitzgerald a supervisory writ because he failed to establish the requisite factors.

The circuit court issued an involuntary medication order two days prior to this Court's decision in *Scott*. (A-App. 111.) But in light of *Scott*, the circuit court held a hearing, at which it signed an order automatically staying the medication order, allowed the State to orally move to lift the order, and indicated that it intended to grant the State's motion to lift the stay. (R. 23, 24; A-App. 141.)<sup>2</sup> Fitzgerald then filed a petition for a supervisory writ in the court of appeals, alleging that the circuit court violated its plain duty under *Scott*. (R-App. 101) Fitzgerald's petition was properly denied because he failed to satisfy the necessary elements.

## 1. Fitzgerald did not show a violation of a plain duty.

The court of appeals properly denied the petition because it correctly found that the circuit court had authority to entertain the State's motion to lift the stay and, therefore, did not violate a plain duty.

In his petition before the court of appeals, Fitzgerald alleged that the circuit court violated a plain duty by entertaining and ruling on the State's motion to lift the automatic stay. (R-App. 101.) And Fitzgerald went on to state that, "If it signs the State's proposed order, the order will violate *Scott* and Fitzgerald's right to substantive due process." (R-App. 103–04.) But Fitzgerald did not indicate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citations to "R" reference the appellate record in *State v. Raytrell K. Fitzgerald*, Appeal No. 2018AP1296-CR.

whether the circuit court did sign the order, and he did not explain how signing the order would conflict with the applicable statues or the *Scott* case. (R-App. 101.)

The court of appeals interpreted Fitzgerald's petition for supervisory writ as challenging the circuit court's authority to hear the State's motion, and correctly found that the circuit court retained the power to act on that motion. (A-App. 104–05.)

Pretrial competency proceedings are governed by Wis. Stat. § 971.14, so they are not part of the underlying criminal case, and they are not appealed through Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30; Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11. Therefore, the circuit court retains the power to act on all issues, even after the notice of appeal is filed, until the record has been transmitted to the court of appeals. Wis. Stat. § 808.075(3). (A-App. 105.) The court of appeals correctly came to this conclusion and determined that the circuit court did not violate a plain duty by entertaining the State's motion to lift the stay. (A-App. 105.) Notably, Fitzgerald does not even argue this point on appeal, so it should be deemed abandoned. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Companies, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) (issues raised below but not renewed on appeal are deemed abandoned); see also State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 8, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (addressing Wisconsin's waiver rule).

The court of appeals also correctly found that the circuit court did not violate a plain duty related to the automatic stay. It noted that the last order in the circuit court is the order automatically staying the medication order. (A-App. 105.) So, to the extent that Fitzgerald argued that the circuit court had a plain duty to issue the automatic stay, it satisfied that duty as well. (A-App. 105.) Again, Fitzgerald seems to

abandon this argument on appeal, so it should be disregarded. *See A.O. Smith Corp.*, 222 Wis. 2d at 491.

Next, the only actual "plain duty" argument Fitzgerald raises before this Court is his claim that he is entitled to a supervisory writ because the circuit court violated its "plain duty" to ensure that the State made the requisite showing before granting its motion to lift the stay. (Fitzgerald's Br. 15–16.) But this argument fails because it overlooks the fact that whether to grant the State's motion is a discretionary decision, not a plain duty. *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 48. And an appeals court will not invoke "supervisory control over the trial court to compel a discretionary act." *Dressler*, 163 Wis. 2d at 640. And although the circuit court indicated it was inclined to lift the stay, it never actually did so. (A-App. 147–48.) Fitzgerald cannot identify an actual violation of a plain duty on this issue.

Finally, not only did Fitzgerald fail to show the circuit court violated a plain duty as established in Scott, but Fitzgerald does not bother to show that the Scott case even applies here. The *Scott* case involved competency evaluations in *post*conviction proceedings, not *pre*trial competency proceedings. Scott, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 14. And the Court explained in Scott that, unlike pretrial competency, the "instances in which a defendant may be involuntarily medicated to competency for purposes of appeal will be rare." Id.  $\P$  23. In pretrial cases like Fitzgerald's, it is much easier for the State to show that competency is needed because a defendant's participation is necessary at trial. Another critical difference between the *Scott* case and this case is that in pretrial competency cases like Fitzgerald's, there is an express statutory scheme for determining the need for involuntary medication. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14. Fitzgerald's failure to show why *Scott* should even apply here undermines

his whole argument and provides yet another reasonable basis for the court of appeals' decision.

The court of appeals properly denied Fitzgerald's petition because he failed to show that the circuit court violated a plain duty by entertaining the states motion to lift the automatic stay.

# 2. Fitzgerald has failed to show irreparable harm, or that an appeal is inadequate.

Fitzgerald's writ petition was properly denied because he did not show a violation of a plain duty. But he also failed to show two other requisite elements for a supervisory writ. Fitzgerald did not show that irreparable harm would occur if the circuit court were able to entertain the State's motion to lift the stay, or that an appeal would be inadequate. *Dep't. of Nat. Res.*, 380 Wis. 2d 354, ¶ 9. In light of these deficiencies, the court of appeals properly denied his petition.

First, as to harm, all Fitzgerald argued in his writ petition is that the *Scott* case established that a defendant's liberty interest in not being medicated would be rendered a nullity if the medication order is not stayed pending appeal. (R-App. 103.) But this potential harm does not relate to the duty Fitzgerald claims was violated. The circuit court stayed Fitzgerald's case pending appeal, and never entered an order lifting the stay, so Fitzgerald was never at risk of the harm he cites. (A-App. 105.) And Fitzgerald does not go on to explain how entertaining the State's motion to lift that stay caused irreparable harm. Finally, Fitzgerald once again abandons this argument on appeal, making no claim of irreparable harm before this Court. *See A.O. Smith Corp.*, 222 Wis. 2d at 491.

Next, Fitzgerald also fails to convincingly explain why an appeal is inadequate.<sup>3</sup> He argued in his petition that if a circuit court grants the State's motion to lift the automatic stay, the defendant would be required to move for a stay of that decision pending appeal, and that would inappropriately shift the burden of proof to the defendant. (R-App. 104.) But this argument fails to recognize that in such situations—where a State has moved to lift the stay and the court has granted that motion—the circuit court's decision to grant the State's motion shows the State will have already met its burden of proof. Put differently, the State will already be in the winning posture, and it will be the *defendant* who is seeking review.

So, unless Fitzgerald is arguing that the State should not be able to challenge the automatic stay, the process is necessarily going to involve shifting burdens. And this does not render the appeals process inadequate. Finally, Fitzgerald once again abandons this argument on appeal and provides no explanation to this Court why an appeal is an inadequate remedy. *See A.O. Smith Corp.*, 222 Wis. 2d at 491.

Fitzgerald has not shown the requisite factors for a supervisory writ, and the court of appeals properly denied his petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Notably, this Court has granted review of Fitzgerald's direct appeal of the underlying competency determination in Appeal Number 2018AP1296.

# II. This Court should decline to exercise its superintending authority.

### A. Applicable law

### 1. Superintending authority

This court has "superintending and administrative authority over all courts." Wis. Const. art. VII, § 3. And this power is "as broad and as flexible as necessary to insure the due administration of justice in the courts of this state."  $Koschkee\ v.\ Evers$ , 2018 WI 82, ¶ 8, 382 Wis. 2d 666, 913 N.W.2d 878. But this Court's supervisory authority is not to be invoked lightly. Id. ¶ 12. "This court will not exercise its superintending power where there is another adequate remedy . . . or where the conduct of the trial court does not threaten seriously to impose a significant hardship upon a citizen."  $Arneson\ v.\ Jezwinski$ , 206 Wis. 2d 217, 226, 556 N.W.2d 721 (1996).

Whether the Court chooses to exercise its supervisory authority in a given situation is a matter of judicial policy rather than one relating to the power of this Court. *Evers*,  $382 \text{ Wis. } 2d\ 666$ , § 8.

### 2. Appellate procedure

A final circuit court order is appealable as of right. Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1). A final circuit court order is defined in Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1) as "a judgment, order or disposition that disposes of the entire matter in litigation as to one or more of the parties . . . ."

"A party must file a notice of appeal to initiate an effective appeal. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(1)(a)." *In re Commitment of Sorenson*, 2000 WI 43, ¶ 16, 234 Wis. 2d 648, 611 N.W.2d 240. "A notice of appeal is a signed paper that contains certain required pieces of information and alerts the

opposing party, the circuit court, and the court of appeals of a party's intention to seek recourse from a court judgment or order." *Id*.

Wisconsin Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(1)(a) indicates that an appeal is initiated by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the circuit court. The statute directs that the notice of appeal shall include:

- 1. The case name and number.
- 2. An identification of the judgment or order from which the person filing the notice intends to appeal and the date on which it was entered.
- 3. A statement of whether the appeal arises in one of the types of cases specified in s. 752.31(2).
- **4.** A statement of whether the appeal is to be given preference in the circuit court or court of appeals pursuant to statute.
- 5. If the appeal is under s. 809.30 or 809.32, a statement of the date of service of the last transcript or copy of the circuit court case record if no postconviction motion is filed, the date of the order deciding postconviction motions, or the date of any other notice-of-appeal deadline that was established by the court of appeals.
- **6.** If counsel is appointed under ch. 977, a copy of the order appointing counsel.

### Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(1)(b).

In most civil cases, an appellant must send the clerk of the court of appeals a copy of the notice of appeal, along with a docketing statement. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(1)(c)–(d). The docketing statement is a form that asks the appellant to establish jurisdiction, and identify the parties and issues on appeal. (R-App. 109.) But the form expressly indicates that, as long as you are not intentionally withholding information,

failure to include an issue in the docketing statement does not constitute waiver of that issue on appeal. (R-App. 109.)

B. This Court should decline to use its superintending authority to make the automatic stay in *Scott* take effect immediately upon an involuntary medication order for pretrial competency.

Fitzgerald's main argument before this Court is that the automatic stay established in *Scott* should be triggered by the medication order, not the notice of appeal. This argument was not developed in Fitzgerald's supervisory writ petition in the court of appeals. Fitzgerald makes this argument in response to a comment in the court of appeals decision denying his writ petition. But since it was not the substantive issue for the supervisory writ, it cannot be the basis for affirming or reversing the court of appeal's denial of the writ. Instead, Fitzgerald's appeal is more properly viewed as a request for this Court to exercise superintending authority and direct that the automatic stay in *Scott* is triggered by the medication order. But neither justice, nor its due administration, require an exercise of superintending authority on this issue.

# 1. Scott reflects that an automatic stay should trigger at the filing of a notice of appeal.

In *Scott*, this Court held that involuntary medication orders are final appealable orders, separate from a defendant's underlying criminal case. *Scott*, 382 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 34. And the Court held that such orders are subject to an automatic "stay[] pending appeal." *Id.* ¶ 44. But the Court did not specifically articulate what event triggers the automatic stay.

Since an appeal is not initiated until a defendant files a notice of appeal, the court of appeals here reasoned that the automatic stay is not triggered until the notice of appeal is filed. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(1)(a); (A-App. 105.) The court of appeals correctly came to this conclusion, and this Court should decline to exercise its superintending authority to direct otherwise.

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